
Minutes ID: 1114 

*CM1114* 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
OF THE 

ASSEMBLY COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT AFFAIRS 
 

Seventy-Fifth Session 
April 29, 2009 

 
 
The Committee on Government Affairs was called to order by  
Chair Marilyn K. Kirkpatrick at 9:05 a.m. on Wednesday, April 29, 2009, in 
Room 3143 of the Legislative Building, 401 South Carson Street, Carson City, 
Nevada.  The meeting was videoconferenced to Room 4406 of the Grant 
Sawyer State Office Building, 555 East Washington Avenue, Las Vegas, 
Nevada. Copies of the minutes, including the Agenda (Exhibit A), the 
Attendance Roster (Exhibit B), and other substantive exhibits, are available and 
on file in the Research Library of the Legislative Counsel Bureau and on the 
Nevada Legislature's website at www.leg.state.nv.us/75th2009/committees/.  
In addition, copies of the audio record may be purchased through the Legislative 
Counsel Bureau's Publications Office (email: publications@lcb.state.nv.us; 
telephone: 775-684-6835). 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: 

 
Assemblywoman Marilyn K. Kirkpatrick, Chair 
Assemblyman David P. Bobzien, Vice Chair 
Assemblyman Chad Christensen 
Assemblyman Jerry D. Claborn 
Assemblyman Ed A. Goedhart 
Assemblywoman April Mastroluca 
Assemblyman Harvey J. Munford 
Assemblywoman Peggy Pierce 
Assemblyman James A. Settelmeyer 
Assemblyman Lynn D. Stewart 
Assemblywoman Melissa Woodbury 
 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS ABSENT: 
 
Assemblyman Paul Aizley (excused) 
Assemblyman Kelvin Atkinson (excused) 
Assemblywoman Ellen B. Spiegel (excused)    
 

 
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/75th2009/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA1114A.pdf�
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/75th2009/Exhibits/AttendanceRosterGeneric.pdf�


Assembly Committee on Government Affairs 
April 29, 2009 
Page 2 
 
GUEST LEGISLATORS PRESENT: 

 
Senator Valerie Wiener, Clark County Senatorial District No. 3 

 
STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 

 
Susan Scholley, Committee Policy Analyst 
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Chair Kirkpatrick: 
[Roll taken.]  Let the record reflect that Mr. Aizley, Ms. Spiegel, and Mr. 
Atkinson have bills being heard in the Senate.  Senate Bill 204 (R1) has been 
pulled from the agenda today.  We will open Senate Bill 66 (2nd Reprint).  
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Senate Bill 66 (2nd Reprint):  Revises certain provisions governing the 

appropriation of water. (BDR 48-618) 
 
Steven K. Walker, Minden, Nevada, representing Truckee Meadows Water 

Authority, Douglas County, and Lyon County: 
Senate Bill 66 (2nd Reprint) is a bill from Douglas County that lets the State 
Engineer allow five years on time extensions for water rights that are associated 
with quasi-municipal (QM) beneficial use.  It is a popular bill that has had two 
additions to it, one by the State Engineer in regard to court situations on stays, 
and the other by Southern Nevada Water Authority (SNWA).  I will present the 
Douglas County portion of the bill, and then I will let Jason King and Matt Leck 
finish the presentation. 
 
On page 3 of the bill, in section 2, subsection 3, it explains the number of 
extensions allowed within the time frame of five years.  When municipalities 
approve a subdivision, either through a tentative map or a final map, the 
developer dedicates water rights for that subdivision.  The water rights are in 
the form of a permit, and as each house is built, you get a beneficial use of a 
portion of that water right.  
 
Every year that you hold these permits, you have to file a time extension until 
the house is built.  This can go on for some time, depending on the size of the 
subdivision, in some cases for as long as 20 years.  When Washoe, Douglas, 
and Lyon Counties submit the time extensions to the State Engineer's Office, 
the State Engineer has to reciprocate and give them the time extension.  Under 
this type of permit, the time extension would be for five years.  The fees would 
remain the same, $100 for each year.  The bill would reduce administrative 
costs on both sides of the transaction by approximately 80 percent.   
 
We brought this bill forward during the summer, worked it through, and all 
parties involved seem to agree that this is a sensible thing to do.  That is all the 
bill does.  It saves administrative costs between municipalities that have 
dedicated water rights for development and the State Engineer's Office. 
 
Assemblyman Claborn: 
I had the same situation with a water well drilling permit.  I did not drill, but 
every year I had to pay the $100 on the fee in case I was ready to drill.  Is this 
the same scenario?  
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Jason King, P.E., Acting State Engineer, State Engineer's Office, Division of 

Water Resources, Department of Conservation and Natural Resources: 
Mr. Claborn, it is the same extension of time for filing a proof of completion, 
which is the instance you are talking about, and it also applies to applications 
for filing for proof of beneficial use for municipalities.   
 
Assemblyman Goedhart: 
I see that the fee remains at $100 per year, so the revenue to the state will not 
decrease, just the administrative time.  Now that other people have found this 
to be a popular bill and have wanted to add to it, why is it that we are doing 
something different for municipal water use than for agricultural or other uses? 
 
Jason King: 
At least five times since 1981, this Legislature has recognized municipal and 
QM purveyors as being unique in Nevada's water law.  Municipalities often hold 
hundreds of permits, and managing many extensions each year is time 
consuming and costly.  The same is true for our division and our work.   
 
In many cases, it takes long periods of time to get the infrastructure into the 
ground.  It takes municipalities long periods of time to plan, fund, and build 
water treatment and wastewater treatment facilities.  The municipalities do not 
control growth so they cannot predict when they can prove beneficial use for 
each of these rights. 
 
Perhaps most importantly, our water laws are riddled with language that deters 
speculation of water.  Municipalities typically are not speculators; they are 
formed for the purpose of delivering services to their customers.  They are not 
looking to sit on the water until such time they can sell it off to another 
prospective buyer.  For those reasons, I believe it is justified to have this 
provision for municipalities.  
 
Assemblyman Goedhart: 
I agree with the intent of Nevada water law.  Over the years we have done a lot 
of work with that law to prevent speculators.  We realize there is a difference 
between municipalities and agricultural use.  I know people who purchased a 
water right and wanted to put it to beneficial use for agricultural purposes, and 
then a protest was lodged against them by a federal entity, to disallow use of 
the water.  Even though it was held up because of the protest, they had to 
continually file an extension of time each year. They wanted to provide 
beneficial use but could not because of pending litigation due to a protest. 
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Jason King: 
I do not have a good response to that question.  I know that does occur.  It is 
our hope to take care of those protested applications as expeditiously as 
possible so that the farmers are not faced with that situation. 
 
Assemblyman Settelmeyer: 
I agree with my colleague.  My hope is, that by reducing your caseload by  
80 percent in dealing with these types of transactions, it will free up your time 
to deal with some of the other water issues. 
 
Jason King: 
Absolutely, Mr. Settelmeyer, that is what we are hoping for, too. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Mr. King, do you know approximately how many extensions are currently out 
there? 
 
Jason King: 
I know that we get between 3,000 and 4,000 extensions of time each year.  
What I did not do was cull out how many of those are for municipal and QM.  
Again, we do 300 to 400 per month. 
 
Steve Walker: 
I can add to that.  Washoe County probably has the highest number of filings 
for extensions of time, with 1,800 per year, so it is significant. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
That will eventually slow down as your water authority comes together, right? 
 
Steve Walker: 
The only thing that will make it go down is no more growth. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Who can tell me how many municipal and quasi-municipal water agencies there 
are? 
 
Jason King: 
I do not know that number, but I can get it for you before the end of the day. 
 
I am testifying on page 9 of the bill under section 4.  The language begins on 
page 8.  This section of the bill requires anyone that is requesting a stay of a 
State Engineer's decision to serve notice on all affected parties that a stay is 
being requested.  In the past, noticing was not required and stays were issued 
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without anyone being aware that they were being requested.  In addition, there 
is language that provides criteria that a court may consider when determining a 
bond amount for a stay of an order or decision of the State Engineer.  It is 
discretionary—the court may or may not use it—but at least it spells out the 
criteria.  The purpose of the language is to reduce the number of frivolous filings 
for a stay. 
   
Matt Leck, Assistant Management Analyst, Southern Nevada Water Authority, 

Las Vegas, Nevada: 
I will go through sections 1 and 5 of the bill.  In December of 2007, the seven 
Colorado River Basin states concluded the negotiations on the Colorado River, 
and the Secretary of the Interior issued a record of decision.  In that record of 
decision there were some good findings for the State of Nevada and southern 
Nevada in particular.  We were able to take intentionally created surplus and 
develop a shortage supply along the river to help offset the high and low water 
periods in Lake Mead, and to assist in the operations of Lake Mead and Lake 
Powell.   
 
Section 1 puts the definition of "developed shortage supply" and "intentionally 
created surplus" into the statutes.  It also declares that water to be of beneficial 
use to the State of Nevada. 
 
Section 5 talks about that beneficial use.  It says, "Any use of water from the 
Muddy River or the Virgin River for the creation of any developed shortage 
supply or intentionally created surplus does not require the submission of an 
application to the State Engineer to change the place of diversion, manner of 
use, or place of use."  This will, in turn, help the precompact water rights from 
1928 be developed within southern Nevada for water to be conveyed through 
Lake Mead. 
 
Assemblywoman Pierce:  
I went through this portion of the bill and looked up the statute at  
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 533.030 to find the definitions of "developed 
shortage supply" and "intentionally created surplus," but I could not find them. 
 
Matt Leck: 
Section 1 of the bill defines NRS 533.030.  Section 1, subsection 2, paragraphs 
(a) and (b) have the meaning of both terms ascribed to them "in Volume 73 of 
the Federal Register at page 19,884, April 11, 2008, and any subsequent 
amendment hereto."  Those were pulled from the record of decision in 
conjunction with the December 2007 record of decision from the Secretary of 
the Interior with the seven basin states. 
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Assemblywoman Pierce: 
I did see that, but I still do not know how to look that up.  At the end of the bill 
it says it is in NRS, but I cannot find it.  I would like to see a definition of these 
terms so I can better understand this issue. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
We will ask Ms. Scholley to get that for us.  The Muddy River is out near Moapa 
and the Virgin River is near Mesquite.  Does this bill affect those agricultural 
land owners who are leasing their water?  Will this change that in any way? 
 
Matt Leck: 
We are dealing only with 1928 precompact water rights in the Muddy and 
Virgin Rivers.  As far as the farmers go, they are allowed to use the water they 
have.  This does not impact them at all. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Why is this amendment coming out at the end of session as opposed to being 
heard at the beginning of session?   
 
Matt Leck: 
Excuse me? 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
If it has to do with the compact issue, why are we putting this amendment in 
now? 
 
Matt Leck: 
Municipalities, water users, and environmentalists from across the state came 
together to work on this issue.  Mr. Walker was kind enough to allow us to put 
this language into this bill, which puts into statute that the federal issue applies 
only to the definition of intentionally created surplus and developed shortage 
supply. 
 
Section 5 of the bill allows for the usage of water from the Muddy and Virgin 
Rivers for the two purposes of a developed shortage supply and intentionally 
created surplus without going through the State Engineer.  Water from the  
precompact rights would be allowed to flow through Lake Mead. 
 
Jason King: 
Last summer, our office issued orders that accomplish the same thing, for both 
the Virgin and the Muddy Rivers.  This bill now puts it into statute.  We are in 
full support of it, because it memorializes what we did through a State 
Engineer's order. 
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Assemblyman Goedhart: 
We get a credit for water that comes from the Muddy and Virgin Rivers in 
addition to what we get through the Colorado River Southern Compact, right? 
 
Jason King: 
Mr. Goedhart, are you are talking about return flow credits, the water that is 
returned to Lake Mead? 
 
Assemblyman Goedhart: 
Right. 
 
Jason King: 
This water does qualify for return flow credit under the intentionally created 
surplus credit that benefits southern Nevada. 
 
Assemblyman Goedhart: 
We do not have to use it in the year in which it was obtained.  We can store it 
in Lake Mead, where it becomes a buffer against a shortage or intentionally 
created surplus for the sake of the language in the Federal Register, is that 
correct? 
 
Matt Leck: 
That is correct, Mr. Goedhart. 
 
Assemblyman Stewart: 
Can you give me an update on the snowpack runoff that flows into the 
Colorado River?  Do we have any information on that? 
 
Matt Leck: 
I have not seen the latest figures.  I will be happy to find that information for 
you after the Committee adjourns. 
 
Assemblyman Stewart: 
Can we do that this afternoon? 
 
Matt Leck: 
Certainly. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Is there anyone who would like to testify in support or opposition of  
S.B. 66 (R2)?  Is there anyone in Las Vegas or Carson City who would like to 
testify in support, opposition, or neutral to S.B. 66 (R2)?  
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Ernest E. Adler, Attorney at Law, Carson City, Nevada, representing the  

Reno-Sparks Indian Colony, Reno, Nevada: 
When they refer to a quasi-municipal water system, does that include Indian 
tribes in terms of colonies and reservations?  Many of them are compact areas 
on public water systems, and I am curious if they can get the same extensions 
as regular municipalities under this bill. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I think Mr. King is going to come back up and answer that question.  This is no 
different than the way it is currently done. 
 
Ernest Adler: 
You are correct on that. 
 
Jason King: 
The language in the bill says that "a single extension of time for a public water 
system, as defined in NRS 445A.235, must not exceed 5 years."  I guess that 
raises the question whether or not the Indian colony that you mentioned falls 
within that jurisdiction.  I do not know if they do or not. 
 
Steve Walker: 
That section of law applies to community water systems with 15 connections 
or more.  It covers almost everyone.  If you have less than 15 connections, this 
bill would not apply. 
 
Ernest Adler: 
It is my understanding that the legislative intent of this bill would include Indian 
colonies or reservations that have more than 15 hookups. 
 
Jason King: 
The tribe, as a sovereign, would have to say that they do not fall under  
NRS Chapter 445A, which is not the case, so they are not arguing that point.  
They absolutely do fall under the provisions of this statute. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Amendments were proposed on the other side, were they not?  Did you testify 
on the other side to get that information? 
 
Ernest Adler: 
No, I did not.  I was not aware of this bill until today.  As I understand Mr. King, 
if the tribe files under Nevada law and they have more than 15 hookups, they 
would be subject to this amendment. 
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Chair Kirkpatrick: 
We will be sure to clarify that as we are looking up the statute ourselves.  You 
know the statute as well; it is all legal interpretation.  Is there anyone who 
would like to testify as neutral on this bill?  [There were none.]  We will close 
the hearing on S.B. 66 (R2). We would like to invite Senator Wiener up to 
testify on Senate Bill 147 (1st Reprint). 
 
Senate Bill 147 (1st Reprint):  Establishes provisions governing broadcasters 

during emergencies. (BDR 36-960) 
 
Senator Valerie Wiener, Clark County Senatorial District No. 3: 
Senate Bill 147 (1st Reprint) provides for broadcasters and those in the 
telecommunications industry to be allowed to do their jobs in an emergency. 
 
It is not very often that someone comes to us because of our long professional 
histories and gives us the opportunity to bring forward a measure that has taken 
decades to learn about and establish. 
 
I started my broadcast career at 16.  I had a radio talk show in Las Vegas every 
Saturday.  Through the years, not only did I get degrees in journalism and 
broadcast journalism, but I have worked in every field except the one they are 
speaking of here today, and that is engineering.  
 
This measure would provide for broadcasters and those in telecommunications, 
certain people who are trained and narrowly focused, to be able to access 
emergency or disaster sites, ensuring that those transmitters and providers of 
information can stay on the air.  Often, we learn the hard way.  When we do 
have disasters and emergency situations, people are isolated because they lose 
touch with what is occurring.  We often take it for granted how important it is 
to be able to stay in touch with the public and to provide essential information 
so they know what to do.  Those people who provide that information are the 
communicators who do this for a living: broadcasters and cable communicators.  
This would allow them access to certain sites where they need to address the 
technical changes that occur in a disaster when a transmitter goes down.  It 
also allows for fuel and other necessities to get to those sites so they can stay 
on the air. 
 
The first four sponsors of this bill are people who have been professional 
broadcasters, and I thought that it was appropriate to have them sponsor the 
measure. 
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Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Does anyone have any questions for Senator Wiener?  I see that on the Senate 
side, there were 11 pages of minutes, so it was fully vetted. 
 
Senator Wiener: 
That is probably an understatement.  There is a great passion for this because 
all we need is one situation where we cannot reach people with information, 
and we do not want that to happen. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Did you want to turn the testimony over to anyone in particular? 
 
Senator Wiener: 
Yes. In our remote location we have a witness, and then Bob Fisher can 
orchestrate the remaining witnesses.   
 
Adam Sandler, Vice President, Nevada Broadcasters Association, Las Vegas, 

Nevada: 
I strongly support S.B. 147 (R1).  My colleagues, who will be testifying in 
support of this bill, will describe what it seeks to resolve.  I would like to give 
some background and context from which the bill was developed. 
 
Following Hurricanes Katrina and Rita, which hit the Gulf Coast in 2005, we 
heard story after story about broadcasters being denied access to their facilities 
and infrastructure that needed repair.  Access to these facilities during a 
disaster is critical, so TV and radio stations can continue to broadcast  
lifesaving emergency information and alerts. 
 
This bill seeks to ensure that qualified engineers and technicians can reach these 
critical facilities to repair, restore, and resupply such facilities in the event of a 
disaster.  What we already knew, but was reinforced in the days and weeks 
after the hurricanes, was the first place people turn to during an emergency is 
their local radio or television broadcaster.  The absence of information wreaks 
panic, and this bill seeks to ensure that public and emergency officials have an 
open, direct link to citizens.  As any emergency manager will tell you, an 
informed public is easier to manage.  
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I thought we already had an emergency system in place.  I know many times 
the message on my TV tells me that this is an emergency alert test.  Did we not 
already think about this part of the bill?  What were we thinking as far as how 
we would react if there was an emergency?  I always felt comfortable with the 
message on my television, but now I question that. 
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Adrienne Abbott-Gutierrez, Chair, Emergency Alert System, Reno, Nevada: 
The premier public warning system is what you are describing, Madam Chair.  I 
would like to mention there is no taxpayer money involved in the Emergency 
Alert System (EAS); it is strictly funded by broadcasters.  The reason we tell 
you, and anyone else who is preparing for an emergency, to have a  
battery-operated radio and even a battery-operated television is to get that kind 
of information.  This bill ensures that, in a disaster, broadcasters can continue 
to get the fuel, supplies, and access we need to keep our transmitters and 
studios functioning, to be able to distribute and disseminate that critical 
information to the public.  We want to ensure that if we run out of fuel and 
order fuel to come in, it will get to us and will not be confiscated as it was in 
both Hurricanes Katrina and Rita and in southern California during the wildfires 
two years ago.  We will be able to continue to provide essential information to 
the community. 
 
Assemblyman Stewart: 
I would like to encourage the media not to be overanxious in reporting disasters 
and increasing the nature of the event.  I look back at the Pacific Engineering 
Production Company of Nevada (PEPCON) blast in southern Nevada, in 1988, 
when the media first came out and said there were 200 people killed in the 
blast.  There were only 200 people employed at PEPCON on all three shifts, and 
as it turned out, only one or two people died.  I want to encourage the media to 
make sure they have some decent and factual information before they start 
publicizing it. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
That is exactly what I said yesterday. 
 
Robert D. Fisher, President, Nevada Broadcasters Association, Las Vegas, 

Nevada: 
I would like to have Ms. Gutierrez come back and say something else. 
 
Adrienne Abbott-Gutierez: 
This is not a bill about reporting.  This is a bill about keeping our stations on the 
air so community officials can keep the community informed. 
 
I would also like to add that I am a member of the Society of Broadcast 
Engineers.  Recently, we concluded meetings at the National Association of 
Broadcasters convention in Las Vegas.  Many members of the Society of 
Broadcast Engineers and many other state chairs for the EAS told me that they 
are very interested in the progress of this bill and they would like to see similar 
legislation in their states.  They are keeping a very close eye on what we are 
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doing here today and how this measure proceeds through the Nevada 
Legislature. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I understand this is a technical bill to make sure the equipment is available for 
emergencies and disasters.  In section 5, subsection 1, paragraphs (a), (b), and 
(c), what does that mean to the state to "be consistent with federal law and 
guidelines"?  What kind of training will be needed?  If you are going to be first 
responders, how will all of this work? 
 
Adrienne Abbott-Gutierrez: 
The kind of training we are considering would be the same kind of training that 
first responders get for any kind of disaster, specifically National Incident 
Management System (NIMS) courses that are authored by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and offered online.  Certifications are 
made available to those who successfully complete the course and pass the 
test.  Anyone who is involved, whether someone at the Red Cross or a state 
emergency worker, must have taken these courses and received the 
certifications. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Is there going to be a process where we can keep track of who has been 
trained?  I know that in the broadcasting industry people go to different 
locations all the time.   
 
Robert Fisher: 
In response to Assemblyman Stewart and to you, we are not talking about the 
day-to-day operations of media; we are talking about a critical emergency.  As 
you know, in northern Nevada when we talked about both recent floods, the 
media was there 24 hours a day.  This bill addresses critical emergencies, 
terrorist attacks, et cetera.  I think some of your questions will be answered as 
well with my testimony. 
 
Assemblywoman Mastroluca: 
Are you talking about certifying your engineers?  I can see that if a station was 
certifying multiple people, then you would have multiple people who could 
qualify as first responders, which could be abused and become troublesome in 
an emergency situation.  If you are trying to keep the station on the air, it would 
seem that you are talking about certifying your engineers. 
 
Robert Fisher: 
Incorrect.  Your questions will be answered in my testimony. 
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Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Please go ahead with your testimony, Mr. Fisher.  
 
Robert Fisher: 
I am a member of the Nevada Homeland Security Commission, and I serve as 
chairman of the Rural Communities Committee.  I am also the coordinator and 
chairman of Nevada Amber Alert.  [Mr. Fisher read from prepared text  
(Exhibit C).] 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Thank you.  However, I still want my questions answered on section 5, 
subsection 1, paragraphs (a), (b), and (c).  I understand that we need first 
responders and broadcasters, but I want to more thoroughly understand the bill.  
If someone can explain the bill, section by section, that would be most helpful. 
 
Frank Adams, Executive Director, Nevada Sheriffs' and Chiefs' Association, 

Mesquite, Nevada: 
I will attempt to answer your questions, Madam Chair.  Law enforcement was 
consulted early in the development of the bill.  It was important that we were 
allowed to provide our input.  We believe it will make our officers more effective 
in responding to emergencies.  This will allow us to determine if the individuals 
who come forward as first responders are (1) trained in first response protocol 
and (2) vetted as far as their backgrounds are concerned so that the individuals 
will be people we want on the scene.  We know those individuals will arrive 
with a credential that shows they have had that training and they have been 
vetted.  This only applies to individuals as far as repair and resupplying of that 
critical infrastructure.  We learned during 9/11 that we must partner with those 
people. 
 
This is not a news gathering.  We made that clear at the onset.  These 
individuals would become trained and certified as first responders.  They would 
also be vetted.  They would be the ones to come to the command post with 
their credentials and tell us what their needs are.  Law enforcement would then 
determine if those individuals were the right ones to go up to the facility to 
repair and resupply that facility. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I am still trying to understand.  Constituents listening on the Internet are 
probably wondering the same thing I am.  We have a process in place with the 
current Emergency Alert System that we see on our TV sets late at night and 
early in the morning.  Why had we not thought of this before? 
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I also do not understand the wording "to the extent practicable and consistent."  
I am questioned many times by Homeland Security and first responders on the 
use of broad language.  We are trying to make sure that a close-knit set of 
people are on site to ensure smooth continuity.   
 
Frank Adams: 
Yes, ma'am, we do have a process in place.  What we are talking about are 
those facilities that keep that process going and ensure that when an individual 
shows up at a disaster site, the officer out in the field knows that the individual 
has gone to the command post, shown his credentials, and is the one who has 
the right, the training, and the ability to go to that site and make sure we keep 
that facility going.  Without those broadcast sites and broadcast engineering 
capability, the system that shows up on your TV will go away.  In law 
enforcement, we depend on the local broadcast people to keep getting the word 
out.  This includes not only the emergency broadcast part of the system, but 
news broadcasting in general.  In order to get the word out, and for people to 
know where to go and what to do or how to respond, we need to keep those 
facilities going. 
 
What I need to know as a law enforcement officer is that the person who 
shows up has been trained in emergency response, has been certified, has had a 
background check done, and that he or she is the one to go to that site. 
 
In reference to the language, there is a lot of difference between a localized fire 
on Peavine Mountain and a major flood.  There are times when we have to stop 
and make decisions whether or not to send someone into a dangerous situation, 
which is why the language "to the extent practicable and consistent without 
endangering public safety" is used.  That decision falls back on the emergency 
response commanders and command post.  
 
Robert Fisher: 
After Hurricane Katrina, the Louisiana Broadcasters Association worked very 
hard.  They funded several trucks with fuel to begin getting radio stations on 
the air.  Those trucks were confiscated.  Days went by before radio could really 
go back on the air. 
 
Another example is from New Orleans.  There was a group of engineers flown in 
from around the country to get the broadcast towers working.  They were not 
allowed to cross the line.  Because of that, the radio stations continued to be 
unable to broadcast. 
 
Last winter, there was an extremely severe storm expected to hit Reno, Sparks, 
and Washoe Valley.  At the same time, power went out on Peavine Mountain.  
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The stations called to get power restored, and the response was, well, we have 
to do these other things first and then we will get to you.  
 
The first local swine flu case was documented this morning by the Centers for 
Disease Control (CDC) and the State of Nevada.  We do not know what is going 
to happen in the coming weeks; maybe nothing.  But the fact of the matter is 
that we want to make sure we are able to do our job.  
 
Assemblyman Goedhart: 
I applaud your efforts and realize that you play a very important part in any 
disaster response.  I know a lot of hospitals and casinos have on-site generators 
with their own fuel supply so if power is interrupted, the generators sense there 
is no power and automatically start up.  They have fuel to run for a few days.  
Are your stations set up for that eventuality too? 
 
Robert Fisher: 
Some of the stations have fuel stored and can be on the air for a few days.  We 
are not talking about a few days.  If we have a terrorist attack in Las Vegas, we 
are talking about weeks and weeks. 
 
Pete Reinschmidt, Emergency Operations Manager, Division of Emergency 

Management, Nevada Department of Public Safety: 
Regarding the broadcasters being able to get onto the scene to repair or restore 
broadcast capabilities, there is a credentialing program currently in front of the 
Homeland Security Commission as an initiative to provide for responders 
statewide—not just broadcasters, but all responders to a scene.  The initiative 
will be put in place to grant credentials to them.  
 
There are standards that align with those credentials, and there are federal 
guidelines that we must follow to allow people to enter a scene.  Minimum 
standards for these individuals would be instant command system training, 
NIMS training, and the list goes on.  We would work in cooperation with the 
broadcasters and make sure that those standards are met before the credential 
is given to an individual.  There will be a credentialing system in place as 
required by NIMS standards over the next year.  Our committee developed a 
standard that will allow the broadcasters to go onto the scene and repair their 
equipment.   
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
That helps a bit.  I am in sales, and I know sales people change jobs all the 
time.  Every three or four years you have new people.  I see broadcasters 
changing jobs; that is the nature of the business.  Who is qualified?  If they go 
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to another facility, does that training follow them?  Those are the kind of details 
I think are important.  
 
Pete Reinschmidt: 
There will be a statewide system that scans your identification card when you 
arrive at a scene.  Your card can be scanned by bar codes, smart card chip, or  
magstripe, and will reveal who you work for and what your qualifications are.  
New people would have to be certified before they would be allowed to go into 
a scene.  Broadcasters need to know that. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Once you get your certification, is it good forever, or will that be addressed in 
the parameters? 
 
Pete Reinschmidt: 
With any credentialing you can put a time limit on recertification, so no, it would 
not be good forever. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Is that how it is currently handled with first responders? 
 
Pete Reinschmidt: 
That is the national system that they are trying to set up right now through 
NIMS.  It has been an initiative for almost a year and a half.  It is a requirement 
for all states to do this, and we are still in the developmental stages. 
 
Robert Fisher: 
Adrienne Abbott mentioned the National Association of Broadcasters 
convention.  Prior to that, there was the national summit of the EAS.  The state 
broadcasters associations were the ones who began to inform places like the 
White House, FEMA, and Homeland Security.  Last year, thanks to the state 
broadcasters associations at the national EAS summit, it was the first time that 
FEMA, Homeland Security, and the National Weather Service were ever in the 
same room together.   
 
This year we had a meeting in Las Vegas.  There were 13 to 18 members of 
FEMA in attendance.  One of the things that has happened very slowly is the 
attempt to strengthen public warning, not only in the State of Nevada, but 
across the country. 
 
Pete Reinschmidt: 
Our agency supports this bill with one caveat.  Our staffing is very short in the 
planning arena.  We can help develop templates and reviews of these plans; 
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however, if the intent is for us to apply resources in developing these plans for 
the broadcasters, that would be very difficult to achieve.  I want to get some 
clarification from the broadcasters and you whether you want us to be in the 
development stage or in the template and review stage of this bill. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Mr. Fisher, would you clarify that for him? 
 
Robert Fisher: 
We will continue doing what we have been doing for the last 15 years, which is 
working closely together.  The question involves time and money.  The 
broadcasters are prepared to fund anything that is involved, which is what we 
have done with the EAS, and we are prepared to add the financial resources if 
needed. 
 
Pete Reinschmidt: 
We are not seeking financial resources.  We have emergency management plans 
statewide, and we have utilities, schools, and hotels involved with planning 
processes now.  This will be another effort if we take on this responsibility.  We 
will partner with the broadcasters to do this, but we just want to make sure 
there is no intent for us to be required to develop those plans for them. 
 
Frank Adams: 
We feel this is an important part of our public safety infrastructure partnership 
and that this is the best approach to dealing with this problem. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Is there anyone else who would like to testify in support of S.B. 147 (R1)? 
 
Bob Gastonguay, Executive Director, Nevada State Cable Telecommunications 

Association, Reno, Nevada: 
We in the cable television industry have a responsibility to the 50 to 70 percent 
of the general public who get their off-air channels from video service providers.  
It would be our technicians and not just engineers who would need training.  For 
instance, if Mt. Rose Highway and Highway 395 were blocked by an 
emergency, and our headquarters is on Geiger Grade, if we needed to stay up 
and running, a certified engineer would need to be dispatched to remedy the 
situation. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
What do you think the training timeline is for your company? 
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Bob Gastonguay: 
Not having seen the schedule for the training, I have no idea. 
 
David N. Bowers, P.E., Assistant City Engineer, Department of Public Works, 

City of Las Vegas, Nevada: 
The City of Las Vegas is in support of this bill to ensure that broadcasters have 
the ability to publicize information to the public.  We want to ensure that this 
does not give the broadcasters the right to go in and get information.  As the 
bill currently reads, this provides the ability for technicians to go in and repair 
equipment.  It is not the ability to bring in media or cameras or anything of that 
nature. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
Is there a specific place in this bill that addresses that? 
 
Dave Bowers: 
No, there is not.  We just want to be sure that the door is not opened in that 
sense to allow in camera crews or anyone who may be seeking confidential 
information. 
 
Chair Kirkpatrick: 
I can see where section 6 might bring some questions.  Does anyone else want 
to testify in support, opposition, or neutral on S.B. 147 (R1)?  [There were 
none.]  Are there any final words?  [There were none.]  We will now close the 
hearing on S.B. 147 (R1). 
 
[The meeting was adjourned at 10:07 a.m.] 
 
 
       RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED BY: 
        
       _______________________________ 
       Denise Sins, Committee Secretary 
      
 
APPROVED BY: 
 
 
  
Assemblywoman Marilyn K. Kirkpatrick, Chair 
 
DATE:  
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